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Now comes Respondent, Jalal T. Sleibi, by and through counsel, and herein moves this

Honorable Court, for an order permitting him, by and through counsel to participate in oral

argument before this Honorable Court, which has yet to be scheduled, for the reasons set forth

below.

The instant motion is placed before this Honorable Court on the grounds that due to an

inadvertent misapplication by Respondent's Counsel, Bryan L. Penvose, of the calculation of time

permitted. by this Honorable Court's Order to Show Cause filed on August 28, 2014, Respondent's

Answer and Brief to Relator's Objections to the Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law

and Recommendation (hereinafter "Amended Findings") of the Board of Commissioners on

Grievances and Discipline (hereinafter "Board") was not accepted for filing by the Clerk on October

24, 2014. As previously stated, the court's Order to Show Cause was filed on August 28, 2014

initially providing twenty (20) days for the filing of an objection and fifteen (15) days thereafter to

file an opposing answer.

Though counsel for Respondent Jalal Sleibi initially recommended at the hearing before the

hearing panel of the Board that a sanction of a fully stayed suspension be issued, Mr. Sleibi, in

further acceptance of his misconduct, decided not to file any objections to this Honorable Court's

Show Cause Order and to accept the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommended

Sanction of the Board of a two (2) year suspension with one (1) year conditionally stayed. fhe

Relator, however, chose to file objections asking for Mr. Sleibi to be indefinitely suspended from

the practice of law.

Pursuant to the Order to Show Cause, Relator's objections to the Amended Filings were due
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on September 17, 2014 and Respondent's answer would. have been due fifteen days after the filing

of those objections. However, Relator required additional time and asked Respondent's counsel

to stipulate to another twenty (20) days, or until October 7, 2014, to file Relator's objections.

Respondent so stipulated to the request for extension of time and on September 15, 2014, Relator

filed its unopposed Motion for an Enlargement of Time - providing Relator a total of forty (40)

days to file its objections to the Order to Show Cause.

In the midst of that process of agreeing to the stipulation of time io Relator and with the

passage of time, the undersigned Attorney Penvose incorrectly came to believe that Mr. Sleibi also

had twenty (20) days [and not fifteen (15) days] to file an Answer and Brief to Relator's Objections

following the stipulation for enlargement of time by Relator. Therefore, the undersigned counsel

believed and marked his calendar that the Respondent's Answer and Brief was due on or before

October 27, 2014. As such, believing in good faith that the Answer and Brief was being submitted

timely, counsel forwarded its Answer and Brief, via overnight delivery on October 23, 2014 which

pleading was received by the Clerk's Office at approximately 9:58 a.m. on October 24, 2014. On

October 24, 2014, believing that the Answer and Brief had been submitted three (3) days in advance

of the time limit allowed, Respondent's counsel received a telephone call from the Clerk's Office

that afternoon advising counsel that the Answer and Brief was actually due on October 22, 2014

and therefore, was not being accepted for filing by the Clerk.

A copy of the UPS invoice and confirmation of delivery of Respondent's Answer and Brief

to the Clerk of Courts via Next Day Air on October 24, 2014 is attached hereto as Exhibit "A". A

copy of the Respondent's Brief in Opposition to Relator's Objections to the Board of

Comm.issioners' Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendations which were enclosed
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in the UPS Next Day Air package to the Clerk of Courts for filing is attached hereto and fully

incorporated herein as Exhibit "B".

Relator Nvas provided with forty (40) days to file its Objections and Respondent erroneously

utilized sixteen and a half (16.5) days to submit an Answer and Brief for filing (which sixteen and

a half (16.5) days includes a day of overnight UPS delivery from Cleveland to Columbus). Had

counsel realized that the time limit remained at fifteen (15) days as stated in the initial Show Cause

Order, the Ariswer and Brief would have been timely filed within that time limit or counsel would

have simply requested an enlargement of time prior to its expiration.

Following the notification from the Clerk's office, counsel immediately attempted to take

action to seek peimission for the filing of Respondent's Answer and Brief including, submitting via

e-mail to the Clerk for filing, Respondent's Motion to Accept Filing, which counsel learned on

October 28, 2014 was also not accepted for filing due to a prohibition contained in The Supreme

Court of Ohio Rules of Practice. Though Relator received an extension for a total of forty (40)

days to file their Objections, Respondent is being barred by rule from even filing his Answer and

Brief or seeking any enlargement of time to do so pursuant to S.Ct.Prac.R. 3.02(D) and S.Ct.Prac.R.

3.03(B)(a),(b). While counsel fully owns his mistake and blames rio one other than himself for his

mistake regarding the timing of the filing, it seems abundantly unfair, and. contrary to justice and

fairness, that Relator receives forty (40) days to file Objections while Mr. Sleibi is barred from

having a brief filed on his behalf to advocate for his license to practice law and protect his livelihood

because counsel mistakenly took sixteen and a half (16.5) days instead of fifteen (15) to submit an

Answer and Brief to Relator's Objection.s.

Typically, parties failing to file merit briefs are deemed to waive oral argurnent. See
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S.Ct.Prac.R. 13.04(B)(2). However, there is no rule saying that this Honorable Court may not

waive the foregoing rule as there is with seeking extensions of time after the expiration of the

prescribed time. In consideration of the general interests of fairness and equity to Respondent Jalal

Sleibi as it relates to his license to practice law and ability to support his family, and who personally

is not at fault for the untimely submission of his Answer and Brief to Relator's Objections,

Respondent's counsel respectfully requests that this Honorable Court extend to Mr. Sleibi the

reasonable courtesy, exception and accommodation to permit his counsel to appear at the oral

argument (yet to be scheduled) in the instant matter to argue his position in advocating the

acceptance of the Board's Amended Findings and to reject the extreme recommended sanction of

Relator.

This motion is not made for purposes of delay, harassment or to burden Relator or this

Honorable Court, and the granting of the instant motion will not cause any prejudice to any party.

4'his position rests not only on the facts as set forth herein, but also on the proposition that given

the nature of these proceedings with exclusive jurisdiction before this Honorable Court,lVlr. Sleibi

deserves to be afforded the opportunity to be heard and to have this matter decided upon the merits.

Again, and while the substance of these proceedings, from an equitable perspective, would all-but-

dietate some manner of an opportunity to be heard, counsel, for this same reason, requests that this

Honorable Court allow an exception to S.Ct.Prac. R. 13.04(B)(2) and based upon principles of

fairness and equity, permit counsel to argue Mr. Sleibi's position relative to those posited in

Relator's Brief.

WHEREFORE, Respondent Jalal T. Sleibi prays that this Honorable Court finds the instant

motion to be well-taken, and thereupon issue an order allowing him to participate in the oral
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argument not yet even currently scheduled and permit an exception to S.Ct.Prac.R. 13.04(B)(2),

allowing him, via counsel, to participate in oral argument.

Respectfully su

RICHARD S. K

BRYAN L. PEN U-074134
yan k®blentz-law,conzbr

KOBLENTZ & PENVC)SE, LLC
55 Public Square, Suite 1170
Cleveland, OH 44113
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shall not be liable for any special, incidental, or consequential damages. AIl shipments are subject to the terms and conditions contained in the UPS Tariff/Terms and
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Dear Ms. Frost:

Enclosed please find an original and eighteen (18) copies of the above-referenced
document which we would request that your office accept for filing. Kindly time-stamp twca of
the copies and return it to our office in the self-addressed, postage pre-paid envelope also enclosed
for your convenience.

Of course, should you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact our
office. Thank you for your cooperation and assistance in this matter.
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Enc.
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Bryan L. Penvo
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Jalal T. Sleibi, Esq.
File
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I. INTRODUCTION

As this Honorable Court has stated many times, "Unless the record weighs heavily

against a hearing panel's findings, we defer to the panel's credibility determinations, inasmuch

as the panel members saw and heard the witnesses firsthand." Disciplinary Counsel v. Pappas,

Slip Opinion 2014-Ohio-3676 (2014) citing Cuyahoga Cty Bar Assn. v. Wise, 108 Ohio St.3d

164 at T 24 (2006).

In the instant matter, and in summarizing Relator's objections, Relator argues that this

Honorable Court should ignore the evidence heard and the weight given to that evidence by the

Hearing Panel of the Board of Commissioners on Grievances & Discipline of the Ohio Supreme

Court (hereinafter "Panel") and adopted by the full Board of Commissioners on Grievances &

Discipline of the Ohio Supreme Court (hereinafter "Board") that Mr. Sleibi has been diagnosed

with the mental disabilities of depression and anxiety which qualify as mitigation evidence

calling for a less severe sanction so that Relator may, in its continuing overzealous crusade taken

in this case, argue for a sanction of indefinite suspension.

A. Relator has known of Dr. Pallas' treatment of Mr. Sleibi and his anxiety
diagnosis since March, 2011 and the fully detailed depression, anxiety and sexual
compulsivity diagnosis since January 21, 2014.

The problem with Relator's entire argument, however, is that the facts and truth get in the

way. In making their argument, Relator makes patently false allegations of "trial by ambush",

continues its witch hunt on the label "sexual addiction" (which is, indeed, a symptom of Mr.

Sleibi's mental disability), and rests its hat on an alleged evidentiary point that the diagnosing

physician, James Pallas, M.D., himself did not testify at the hearing as to the diagnosis. In order

to advance this argument and strategy, Relator (as it attempted to do through a motion in limine



filed prior to the hearing and throughout the hearing) omits and glosses over the following facts

now in evidence:

1. Candace B. Risen, L,I.S.W., has been Mr. Sleibi's highly qualified treating mental

health professional since March, 2011; (Amended Findings at ¶¶ 38-39).

2. In a letter dated March 16, 2011 from Ms. Risen sent to Mr. Sleibi's counsel, and

forwarded to Relator on March 23, 2011, Ms. Risen states that Mr. Sleibi's

"history of symptoms and. behaviors suggest an anxiety disability and sexual

addiction. He welcomed my suggestion that he seek a medication consultation for

anxiety here, (sic) Dr. James Pallas." (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See also

Respondent's Exhibits 5 and 63);

3. Upon his referral, Mr. Sleibi was diagnosed by Dr. Pallas with having chronic

depression, anxiety and sexual compulsivity. (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See

also Respondent's Exhibit 1);

4. Dr. Pallas has been treating Mr. Sleibi since March, 2011 and his diagnosis of Mr.

Sleibi was explained in writing through a letter to Mr. Sleibi's counsel dated

January 14, 2014 - which was produced to Relator approximately four (4) months

prior to the hearing. (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See also Respondent's Exhibit 1)

[A January 21, 2014 e-mail confirming delivery of the aforementioned letter of

Dr. Pallas to Relator is attached as Exhibit "B" in Respoildent's Brief in

Opposition to Relator's Second Motion in Limine] [This e-mail completely

discredits Relator's entire argument as to the timing of the production and

disclosure of Dr. Pallas' diagnosis of Mr. Sleibi with depression and anxiety, and

further calls Relator's entire desire to tell the truth into question by playing
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semantics and word games as to whicla of Mr. Sleibi 's team of mental health

professionals was identified as an "expert" witness for the purposes of testifying

at the hearing.];

5. In addition to Dr. Pallas's January 14, 2014 letter setting forth Mr. Sleibi's

diagnosis, Dr. Pallas' treatment of Mr. Sleibi was formally disclosed to Relator

during discovery in response to Relator's interrogatories on January 20, 2014;

[See Respondent's Brief in Opposition to Relator's Second Motion in Limine];

6. In addition to Dr. Pallas' letter and Mr. Sleibi's discovery responses, Relator

conducted Mr. Sleibi's deposition on Apri12, 2014 at which Mr. Sleibi testified, as

to Dr. Pallas' diagnosis of depression and anxiety. (See Sleibi Depo. at pp. 132-

133, 138-139);

7. Fatal to Relator's argument in its pending Objections, Dr. Pallas is on the roster

and affiliated with the Center for Marital and Sexual Health aka Levine, Risen &

Associates, Inc. together with several other mental health professionals affiliated

with that practice including, but not limited to, Ms. Risen. (Amended Findings at

¶ 39; See also Respondent's Exhibit 1);

8. Ms. Risen is one of the two co-owners and banner principals of the Center for

Marital and Sexual Health aka Levine, Risen & Associates, Inc. located in

Beechwood, Ohio. (Amended Findings at ^j 39; See also Respondent's Exhibit 1);

The above facts in evidence and other statements contained in the record of the instant

matter demonstrate that Relator had knowledge of both Dr. Pallas' and Ms. Riseii's treatment of .

Mr. Sleibi for anxiety since on or about March 23, 2011 (over thirty-eight (38) months before the

hearing). Further, Relator had in their possession Dr. Pallas' letter setting forth Mr. Sleibi's

3



diagnosis of depression and anxiety since January, 2014 - four months prior to the hearing. Yet,

Relator did not seek Dr. Pallas' deposition or seek to have him testify at the hearing. Rather, as

Relator did at the hearing, it now falsely attempts to rrzislead this Honorable Court to believe that

they were "ambushed" at the hearing with Dr. Pallas' letter and diagnosis.

Relator's motive is clear. As it argued in its Second Motion in Limine, throughout the

hearing and now in its pending Objections, Relator mischaracterizes and trivializes Mr. Sleibi's

diagnosis of depression and anxiety as "sex addiction" in a thinly veiled attempt to discount his

mental disability from being recognized as a valid diagnosis which appropriately qualifies as

mitigation evidence in these proceedings. To this end, Relator has and continues to horrifically -

and unnecessarily - sensationalize the evidence isolating shocking, sexually graphic and explicit

details in an effort to paint Mr. Sleibi as a sexual monster and deviant rather than a person

displaying symptoms of a diagnosed mental disability.

In its quest to demonize Mr. Sleibi, Relator has wasted resources and time by engaging

the services of and calling David J. Ley, Ph.D. to testify at the hearing that there is no such thing

as "sex addition". Dr. Ley has created his own cottage industry by appearing on Dr. Phil and

many other media shows to discredit "sex addiction." However, during cross-examination at the

hearing (which does not happen on sensational television shows), and as cited by the Panel and

Board, Dr. Ley "admitted that there is currently a debate among professionals about whether sex

addiction is a diagnosable condition; that individuals, particularly men, who are depressed

sometimes, use sexual behaviors as a means to cope with depression; and that 12 step programs

can be effective and useful for some clients." Hrg. Tr. 297-307; (Amended Findings ¶ 45,

footnote 5.) His testimony was - in the opinion of the trier of fact who observed him and

participated in the examination - effectively rendered useless and pointless. Nonetheless, Relator
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continues to seek to rely on his opinion in its pending Objections. Of course, Dr. Ley had never

seen, let alone examined, Mr. Sleibi.

The Hearing Panel and Board by and through the testimony of Ms. Risen, both through

her own observations and lengthy treatment of Mr. Sleibi as well as the diagnosis of her staff at

the Center for Marital and Sexual Health (aka Levine Risen & Associates, Inc.), including Dr.

Pallas, a psychiatrist, and Marvin Wasman, a PhD psychologist, found that 'Mr. Sleibi suffered

from and was appropriately diagnosed with the mental disabilities of chronic depression and

anxiety. Ms. Risen, and as admitted by.Dr. Ley as being common especially for men, has

testified that Mr. Sleibi coped with his mental disability through his symptomatic sexual activity.

He was self-medicating through his sexual activity, as others self-medicate with alcohol or drugs.

Based upon Ms. Risen's testimony as well as through the other testimony heard and evidence

submitted, the Board found that Mr. Sleibi has been diagnosed with a mental disability which

qualifies as a mitigating factor in detennining the appropriate sanction to be issued. (Amended

Findings at ^¶ 39 and 45.)

Now, upset with the recommendation of the Board, the Relator asks this Honorable Court

to ignore the weight of the evidence and testimony heard by the Hearing Panel and instead,

accept its futile argument that there is no such thing as "sex addition" and that Mr. Sleibi's

diagnosis is inadmissib-le because Dr. Pallas did not personally appear to testify. In all candor, it

is, in the opinion of counsel, sad that such a respected and esteemed bar association as the

Cleveland Metropolitan Bar Association has viciously taken this "scorch the earth" attitude and

stooped to these misleading and deceptive tactics as if any means justify its ends in seeing that

Mr. Sleibi is severely and sufficiently punished to Relator's satisfaction - taking on some type of

self-aggrandizing crusade to satisfy their own agenda. In counsel's humble opinion, Relator's
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recommended sanction of indefinite suspension serves no other goal or purpose other than to

punish Mr. Sleibi for his admitted, and now treated and addressed, behavior. However, this

extreme sanction recommendation does not serve the ultimate purpose of these disciplinary

proceedings - to protect the public - especially upon recognition of all of the mitigation evidence

present herein, wliich certainly, under this Honorable Court's precedent calls for mitigation of

any punishment.

As we are all aware, the purpose of these attorney disciplinary proceedings is to protect

the public rather than punish the lawyer. Therefore, in considering all of the factual evidence,

including factors both aggravating and mitigating, the Board has recommended the appropriate

sanction that Mr. Sleibi be suspended form the practice of law for two (2) years with one (1) year

conditional stayed. Though counsel for Mr. Sleibi initially recommended at the hearing that a

sanction of a fully stayed suspension be issued (considering Mr. Sleibi's remorse for the

wrongful nature of his misconduct and the vulnerability of his clients, fully cooperating in these

proceedings, the existence of no prior disciplinary record, his excellent reputation in the legal

community and that he has had the benefit of over three and a half (3.5) years of successful

treatment for his mental disabilities, participation in the 12 Step Sex & Love Addicts

Anonymous ("SLAA") program, and has complied with the requirements of his Ohio Lawyers

Assistance Program ("OLAP") contract), Mr. Sleibi, in further acceptance of his misconduct, has

not objected to this. Honorable Court's Show Cause Order and accepts the Findings of Fact,

Conclusions of Law and Recommended Sanction of the Board of a two (2) year suspension with

one (1) year conditionally stayed.
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U. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jalal Sleibi is a husband, a father of two,. and a lawyer well respected in the legal

community by his colleagues, clients and members of the community, who had a problem linked

to his mental disabilities. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 5, 7, 37-39, 43 and 45). Due to circumstances

contributed to by his disabilities, he acted unprofessionally and engaged in misconduct which

affected four different female clients who needed legal assistance. (Stipulations ¶¶ 2-23).

As he has consistently done, since receiving the first letter of inquiry relative to LF's

grievance and throughout this disciplinary process, Mr. Sleibi admits and stipulates the

professionalmisconduct alleged in Relator's Complaint that he engaged in a sexual relationship

with four (4) clients between 2008 and early 2011 whose names have the initials HW, PA, SM

and LF, (Stipulations 112-23). He has, at all times, fully cooperated with these disciplinary

proceedings and investigation - even voluntarily disclosing his inappropriate relationships and

misconduct relating to HW and PA who did not file grievances against him. (Stipulations ¶¶ 9,

13 and 28)

Now, with the benefit of over three and a half (3.5) years of successful treatment for his

mental disabilities, participation in the 12 Step Sex & Love Addicts Anonymous ("SLAA")

program, and compliance with the requirements of his Ohio Lawyers Assistance Program

("OLAP") contract, Mr. Sleibi is remorseful and fully understands, appreciates and takes

responsibility for the wrongfulness of his selfish actions and the vulnerability of his clients in

committing his misconduct. He is embarrassed by his disgusting and gross, sexually explicit

pattem of behavior. He is saddened and remorseful for the emotional harm he caused to his

clients who were in a disadvantaged position of needing his legal services, as well as for the

harm he has caused to his own family. He is sorry. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 37, 44 and 45).
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That being said, respectfully, the evidence and testimony heard by the Panel showed that

although his actions were completely unethical and wrong; at all times they were consensual and

did not cause any negative impact to the outcome of his clients' legal matters - fully recognizing

this type of harm to be different than emotional harmcaused. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 28, 33, 37,

44 and 45).

In further support of the Board's recommended sanction, Mr. Sleibi provides the

following recitation of the facts surrounding his acknowledged misconduct for which he takes

full responsibility:

A. HW

Mr. Sleibi reported the consensual sexual relationship he had with HW to Relator's

investigator, Virginia Brown, Esq., when asked whether he had engaged in any sexual

relationships with any clients other than SM and LF. (Amended Findings ¶ 15; See Stipulation

¶9 and Respondent's Ex. 67). Mr. Sleibi began representing HW on Februarv 14, 2008 relative

to two separate criminal matters before the Oberlin Municipal Court. (Amended Findirags ¶ 10;

Stipulation at ¶ 2). Shortly thereafter and during the course of that representation, Mr. Sleibi and

HW commenced a consensual sexual relationship. (Amended Findings ¶ 12; Stipulation at ¶ 4).

At a hearing held on or about April 10, 2008 and as is set forth in a letter from Mr. Sleibi

to HW dated April 11, 2008 (See Respondent Ex. 60-B), Mr. Sleibi advised and represented HW

when she pled "no contest" to two of the charges against her while having all other charges

against her dismissed. (Amended Findings ¶ 11; Stipulation at. ¶ 5). There is no evidence,

whatsoever, that HW's legal interests were adversely impacted by the on-going sexual

relationship between her and Mr. Sleibi. Following her plea to the criminal charges in April,

2008, Mr. Sleibi perfornzed no further legal work and sometime in the ensuing months, their
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sexual relationship also concluded. (Stipulation at ¶ 7). Until the proceedings were initiated in

the instant matter, Mr. Sleibi had no contact with HW since 2008.

Mr. Sleibi stipulated and disclosed the misconduct and inappropriate, but consensual

relationship with HW. He takes full responsibility for the inappropriate and wrongful

relationship he had with HW. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 15, 42 and 44; See Stipulation ¶9 and

Respondent's Ex. 67).

B.PA

As with HW, Mr. Sleibi disclosed the consensual sexual acts he had engaged in with PA

at the very first meeting with Relator's investigator when asked whether he had engaged in a

sexual relationship with any clients other than SM and LF. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 16 and 42;

See Stipulation ¶ 13 and Respondent's Ex. 67).

Unlike his on-going sexual relationship with HW, Mr. Sleibi's admitted misconduct

relative to PA is limited to a single consensual, occurrence. (Amended Findings ¶ 17; See

Stipulation ¶¶ 11, 12). Though they had not engaged in any sexual act prior to the

commencement of their attorriey-client relationship, Mr. Sleibi had known PA for some time. As

further stipulated by Mr. Sleibi, he represented PA in the filing of a bankruptcy petition in

March, 2010 which successfully led to her discharge in bankruptcy. (Amended Findings ¶ 17;

See Stipulation ¶¶ 11, 12). There is no evidence that PA's legal rights, interests or outcome of

her legal matter were negatively impacted by this single sexual act.

PA did not participate in the discovery of the instant disciplinary matter and did appear at

the hearing. (Amended Findings ¶ 17).
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C. SM

Mr. Sleibi has also freely admitted and stipulated that he shared a consensual, intimate

sexual relationship with SM from around October or November, 2010 through January 2011

(Amended Findings ¶ 31, 42; See Stipulations ¶¶ 3, 4, 14-16). Though the sexual relationship

began at the very end of their attorney-client relationship while awaiting a discharge order to

arrive in the mail, no sexual relationship began until after Mr. Sleibi had completed all of the

legal work to be performed in representing both SM and her husband in their joint bankruptcy

petition. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 18-20; See Stipulation ¶ 14). Therefore, there is no evidence

that the sexual relationship had any negative impact upon the effectiveness of the legal

representation.

Their sexual relationship ended after SM informed him in January, 2011 through a friend

that she was pregnant. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 20-21; See Stipulation ¶ 16). Mr. Sleibi believed

her and was genuinely concerned, but had his doubts whether this news was true. When he

asked her about the news of her pregnancy, SM informed him that she had decided to have an

abortion. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 20-21).

Mr. Sleibi and SM continued to have personal contact with one another until February or

March, 2011 when Mr. Sleibi commenced his treatment for depression and anxiety which

manifested itself through his sexual compulsivity. Committing himself to the treatment he

needed, Mr. Sleibi advised her that he wanted no further contact with her. Nonetheless, and

despite wai-ning her to refrain from further contact, SM's attempts to contact him persisted.

(Amended Findings ¶ 22),

As a result, Mr. Sleibi filed a complaint with law enforcement for teleph®ne harassment.

Despite being warned of having no further telephone contact by Mr. Sleibi's counsel as well as
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law enforcement, SM atteinpted to call Mr. Sleibi. As a result of her continued attempts to

contact him, SM was criminally charged and, on or about January 23, 2012, pled guilty to the

amended charge of attempted telephone harassment. (Amended Findings ¶ 22).

Long after their sexual relationship had ended and their attorney-client relationship

ended, SM filed her grievance against Mr. Sleibi on February 17; 2012, only following her

criminal plea and conviction. It was not Mr. Sleibi's goal to see her convicted, but with the

passing of many months since their relationship had ended, he wanted SM to stay out of his life

going forward so that he could focus on his treatment and his family.

Regardless, Mr. Sleibi fully acknowledges and is remorseful for the inappropriateness of

the relationship with SM, his misconduct and he takes full responsibility for his actions of

engaging in the inappropriate relationship. (Amended Findings 1142 and 44; See Stipulations ¶¶

14-16).

D. i.F

Mr. Sleibi represented LF in her petition for bankruptcy in 2010. (Amended Findings ¶

25; See Stipulation ¶ 17). During the course of his representation and a visit to her apartment in

December, 2010 to pick up paper work for her bankruptcy, Mr. Sleibi and LF engaged in

consensual, sexual intercourse on a single occasion. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 27 and 28; See

Stipulations ¶ 19-21).

Mr. Sleibi has admitted and stipulated that this sexual encounter occurred, the

wrongfulness of the inappropriate relationship and his professional misconduct as it relates to

that evening. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 27, 42 and 44; See Stipulations ¶¶ 17-23). However, he

disputes LF's subsequent allegations that the sexual encounter was not consensual. Following a

criminal investigation with which he fully cooperated, no criminal charges or indictment were
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ever filed and the Relator failed at the hearing to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the

sexual encounter was non-consensual. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 27, 28, footnotes 2 and 3; See

Stipulation ¶ 21).

LF has testified that she invited him to her apartment to pick up documents after running

out of stamps to mail the documents to him and despite previously receiving sexually explicit

text messages from him which allegedly caused her to fear him. After the first invited visit to

her apartment, LF invited Mr. Sleibi back to her apartment for a second visit (according to her)

on January 6, 2011 to pick up additional documents. The actual purpose of the meeting was to

review her petition which would be filed in the days following. No sexual encounter occurred on

this visit. The Board found that her allegations of the encounter being non-consensual are called

into question by that fact that she invited Mr. Sleibi to her home for this second visit despite her

later allegations that she feared her alleged attacker, Mr. Sleibi, who she subsequently alleges

raped her during the first visit to her apartnient. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 27, 28, footnotes 2 and

3).

Relying in good faith on the information LF had provided to him, Mr. Sleibi filed her

petition not realizing that she had previously filed a first bankruptcy too close in time to the

second as the eight (8) year time to file a new bankruptcy following a successful bankruptcy had

not elapsed. Therefore, the outcome of herbankruptcy petition was not impacted in any way by

their single, sexual encounter. Her bankruptcy petition would have been dismissed regardless of

who had represented her due to her ineligibility. In light of the dismissal due to the mistake

relative to the timing of filed petition, Mr. Sleibi returned the entire $800.00 fee that he had

collected from her for his bankruptcy representation.
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At all times, Mr. Sleibi fully cooperated with the criminal investigations including, but

not limited to, providing a sworn affidavit and passing a polygraph test on March 2, 2011

conducted by William D. Evans, II relative to the allegations made by LF. (Amended Findings

¶¶ 27, 28, footnotes 2 and 3).

Mr. Sleibi, though he maintains the single sexual encounter was consensual, he takes

responsibility and is remorseful for the wrongful nature of his conduct and the inappropriate

sexual encounter he had with LF. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 42 and 44; See Stipulation ¶¶ 17-23).

E. Mr. Sleibi's diagnosis of chronic depressive, anxiety and sexual compulsion
disabilities for which he has successfully been in treatment for over three (3)
years.

Psychiatrist James Pallas, M.D. of the Center for Marital and Sexual Health (aka

Levine, Risen & Associates, Inc.) has been Mr. Sleibi's treating physician since March

21, 2011 upon being referred by Candace Risen, LISW, and Dr. Pallos has diagnosed him

with chronic depression [DSM-IV diagnosis of Dysthymia (300.4)], anxiety [300.0] and

sexual compulsivity [not otherwise specified]. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 37-39 and 45; See

Respondents Ex. I and Ex. 2). Mr. Sleibi had been prescribed and takes Prozac for his

depression and anxiety and Trazedone for sleep.

As part of his treatment since his diagnosis, Mr. Sleibi has regularly attended

therapy sessions with Candace B. Risen, LISW since March, 2011, meeting weekly for

the first six months of treatment, bi-weekly for the second six months, and monthly since

March, 2012. At the request of Mr. Sleibi's 'counsel; Ms. Risen has produced four (4)

reports periodically throughout his treatment dated March 16, 2011, March 5, 2012,

December 31, 2013 and May 112, 2014. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 37-39 and 45; See

Respondent Exs. 2, 4, 5 and 6- absent the enclosure letters of counsel, not admitted into

evidence).

13



In addition to her written reports, Ms. Risen was twice made voluntarily available by Mr.

Sleibi to Relator's investigator, Virginia Brown, prior to the filing of the formal Complaint

together with Mr. Sleibi's medical file (as evidenced by the letter from Ms. Risen to

Ms. Brown marked as Respondent's Exhibit No. 7). Ms. Risen was also made available prior to

the hearing at Relator's request for her deposition on Wednesday, May 21, 2014 where at Relator

had full opportunity to discover both Mr. Sleibi's diagnosis and extent of his treatment.

Although Relator requested to depose Ms. Risen and Mr. Sleibi, through counsel,

facilitated the almost last minute requested deposition of Ms. Risen, no request was made by

Relator to depose Dr. Pallas even though Relator knew of Dr. Pallas, knew of his diagnosis,

possessed a copy of Dr. Pallas' letter setting forth his diagnosis, and Relator had examined Mr.

Sleibi at his deposition, some seven (7) weeks prior to hearing, about Dr. Pallas' treatment.

In addition to his treatment by Dr. Pallas and therapy with Ms. Risen, Mr. Sleibi,

at Ms. Risen's recommendation, has voluntarily and faithfully participated in the SLAA

12 Step program, regularly attending meetings and working with his sponsor, Lawrence

N. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 44, 45; See Respondent's Exs. 2 and 10).

Mr. Sleibi has also voluntarily entered into a contract with OLAP on March 2,

2011 and as evidenced by a letter from the Associate Director of OLAP, Paul Caimi, Mr.

Sleibi has fully complied with the terms of his OLAP contract including, but not limited

to, regularly attending SLAA Meetings. (Amended Findings J(¶ 44, 45; See Respondent's

Exs. 8 and 59). Mr. Sleibi voluntarily has extended his OLAP contract and participation

upon the conclusion of his original three (3) year contract.
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III. LAW AND ARGUMENT

As this Honorable Court is well aware, Ohio Rules for Government of the Bar, Appendix

II, Section 10(A) provides:

"Each disciplinary case involves unique facts and circumstances. In striving for
fair disciplinary standards, consideration will be given to specific professional
misconduct and to the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors." Ohio Rev.
Code Ann. Gov. Bar R., Appendix II,§ 10(A) (Baldwin 2014) (emphasis added).

A. Stipulated Misconduct

Mr. Sleibi has during the investigation, in his Answer to Relator's Complaint and in the

parties' Stipulations, at the hearing held and now before this Honorable Cottrt has admitted that

his conduct involving HW, PA, SM and LF constitute violations of Rules 1.8(j) [engaging in

sexual activity with a client when no prior consensual relationship existed prior to the

commencement of the attomey-client relationship] and Rule 8.4(h) [Engage in conduct that

adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law] of the Ohio Rules of Professional

Conduct. In addition, Mr. Sleibi reported his misconduct with HW and PA. The Board has

found by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent's conduct violated these rules as

stipulated. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 31 and 32).

B. Mitigation

A number of mitigating factors identified in Appendix II,§ 10(B)(2) of the Ohio Rules of

the Government of the Bar are stipulated and present here, were found by the Board to be present

and should be considered in favor of recommending a less severe sanction including, but not

limited to:

1. Mr. Sleibi is remorseful and understands the vulnerability of his clients and the
wrongful nature of his conduct; "Respondent has expressed remorse for his
misconduct to Risen, to his SLAA sponsor, to his other character witness, and during
his testimony. Respondent in no way appears to blame the victims for his own
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misconduct. See, e.g., Hearing Tr. 173, 174, 344, 345, 350, 351, 383, 384, 561."
(Amended Findings ¶ 44).

2. Mr. Sleibi has

(Baldwin 2014).

no prior discipplinary record; See Amended Findings ¶ 41;
Stipulations ¶ 27-; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Gov. Bar R., Appendix II§ 10(B)(2)(a)

3. Mr. Sleibi has cooperated throughout the disciplinary process; See Amended
Findings ¶ 41 and 42; Stipulation ¶28; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Gov. Bar R., Appendix
II§10(B)(2)(d) (Baldwin 2014). Mr. Sleibi has timely responded to all inquiries and
has voluntarily produced relevant documents both during the investigation,
throughout this proceeding and testified at hearing relative to, and including, but not
limited to:

• Information relating to his legal representation of HW, PA, SM and LF as well as
information relating to the misconduct alleged against him to which he
immediately admitted; (Amended Findings ¶ 3, 4, 9, 15, 16, 42; Stipulation ¶ 2-
23;

• Freely disclosing to Relator his misconduct as it relates to HW and PA, and the
records relating to his OLAP contract; (Amended Findings ¶ 15, 16, 42;
Stipulation ¶ 9, 13 and 45; See Respondent's Exhibit 8);

• A letter dated March 16, 2011 from Ms. Risen stating that Mr. Sleibi's "history of
symptoms and behaviors suggest an anxiety disability and sexual addiction. He
welcomed my suggestion that he seek a medication consultation for anxiety here,
(sic) Dr. James Pallas." (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See also Respondent's
Exhibits 5 and 63);

• His diagnosis by Dr. Pallas that he suffers from chronic depression, anxiety and
sexual compulsivity. (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See also Respondent's Exhibit 1
in a letter to Mr. Sleibi's counsel dated January 14, 2014 - approximately four (4)
months prior to the hearing. (Amended Findings at ¶ 39; See also Respondent's
Exhibit 1)

• His mental health and treatment records; (Amended Findings at ¶¶ 37-39, 45; See
also Respondent's Exhibits 5, 7, 59 and 63);

• Reports from his mental health professionals; (Amended Findings at ¶¶ 37-39, 45;
See also Respondent's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7) _

• Voluntarily having his treating mental health professional, Ms. Risen, meet on
two (2) occasions with the Relator's investigator, Virginia Brown, Esq.; (See also
Respondent's Exhibits 5 and 6)
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• His therapy and SLAA attendance records; character testimonial letters;
(Amended Findings at ¶¶ 7, 37-39, 44, 45; See also Respondent's Exhibits 9-53,
and 68);

• The polygraph test which he suceessfully passed relative to the allegations LF
made against him as to whether their single, sexual encounter was consensual,
(Amended Findings at ¶ 28, footnote 2 See also Respondent's Exhibits 64 & 65 -
not admitted for the truth of the matter asserted, but proffered for the record over
objection. Mr. Sleibi's testimony was allowed that he provided same to Relator
and law enforcement as well as told people he had passed a polygraph);

4. Mr. Sleibi has made full restitution relating to the dismissal of LF's bankruptty
petition; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Gov. Bar R., Appendix II§ 10(B)(2)(c) (Baldwin
2014). Though Mr. Sleibi proceeded with filing LF's bankruptcy petition by relying
in good faitll upon the information she provided and confirmed as to the date of her
prior bankruptcy proceeding, but LF's inaccurate information conveyed to Mr. Sleibi
rendered her ineligible to file a second petition and caused her petition to ultimately
be dismissed. Due to the mistake, Mr. Sleibi voluntarily returned to LF in full, the
eight hundred and 00/100 dollars ($800.00) that he had collected as a legal fee from
her. This was not included as mitigation by the Board.

5. Mr. Sleibi has a positive reputation in both the legal community and the general
community; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Gov. Bar R., Appendix II§ 10(B)(2)(e) (Baldwin
2014). (Amended Findings at¶¶ 7, 43 See also Respondent's Exhibits 9-53);

6. Mr. Sleibi suffers from a mental disability; Ohio Rev. Code Ann. Gov. Bar R.,
Appendix II§ 10(B)(2)(g) (Baldwin 2014). ^

Pursuant to Appendix II, § 10(B)(2)(g)(i)-(iv) of the Ohio Rules for Government of the

Bar, Mr. Sleibi's mental disability was found to qualify as mitigation, as the evidence supports

all of the following:

(i) A diagnosis of a chemical dependency or mental disability by a qualified
health care professional.

As discussed above, James Pallas, M.D., of The Center for Marital and Sexual Health

(aka Levine, Risen & Associates, Inc.) has treated Mr. Sleibi since March 21, 2011 and has

diagnosed him with DSM-IV Dysthymia (300.4), Anxiety [300.0], and sexual compulsivity [not

otherwise specified] and has prescribed Prozac for Mr. Sleibi's depression and anxiety. For the

past three and a half (3.5) plus years (approximately 44 months to date), Mr. Sleibi has
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a

undergone therapy for his diagnosed condition with Candace B. Risen, LISW. (Amended

Findings at ¶¶ 37-39, 45; See also Respondent's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7). At the hearing,

Ms. Risen, as the principal of The Center for Marital and Sexual Health (aka Levine, Risen &

Associates, Inc.) and Mr. Sleibi's primary, treating mental health professional familiar with all of

his medical records at her treatment center, testified as to her referral of Mr. Sleibi to Dr. Pallas

and Dr. Pallas' diagnosis of anxiety and depression.

As Ms. Risen explains in her May 12, 2014 letter (Respondent's Ex. 2); in addition to the

foregoing diagnosis, "Mr. Sleibi's history of frequent sexual encounters with multiple adult

females in circumstances that often put him at risk in his marriage and his career fit the criteria

for sexual addiction. While not a formal diagnosis in the diagnostic manual of disabilities, the

term `sexual addiction" is well known to describe these patterns of engaging in frequent and

compulsive sexual behaviors with increased risk taking, poor judgment, and the probability of

negative consequences."

Relator's own expert, David J. Ley, Ph.D. (who never spoke with or examined Mr. Sleibi,

and who has attracted fame by repeatedly appearing in the media and selling books touting that

there is not such diagnosis as "sex addiction") admitted on cross-examination that, "there is

currently a debate among professionals about whether sex addiction is a diagnosable condition;

that individuals, particularl.y. . men, who are depressed sometimes, use sexual behaviors as a

means to cope with depression; and that 12-step programs can be effective and useful for some

clients." (Amended Findings ¶ 45, footnote 5 citing Hearing Tr. 297-307).

Nonetheless, Relator continues to persist (as it does in its pending objection before this

Honorable Court) to attempt to confuse the issue before the Panel, Board and now Supreme

Court of Ohio by attempting to label Mr. Sleibi's diagnosis as "sex addiction" so that it can place
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"sex addiction" on trial in an effort to discount Mr. Sleibi's very real diagnosed mental disability

as invalid.

In counsel's opinion, the Cleveland Metropolitan Bar Association should be ashamed of

itself. Apparently though, the bar association can continue to be dishonest and deceptive relative

to the timing of the information that it has been freely produced regarding Mr. Sleibi's diagnosis,

continue to play "gotcha games" through baseless evidentiary arguments without the fear of

consequence or feeling the appropriate emotion of shame for its actions.

(ii) A determination that the mental disability contributed to cause the
misconduct;

Opining that a contributing connection existed between Mr. Sleibi's depression and his

misconduct in question, Ms. Risen writes in part, "Each encounter offered [Mr. Sleibi] the

momentary sense of a new woman finding him sexually desirable, this pattern of self-medicating

behavior, often referred as sexual addiction, clearly contributed to his having engaged in sexual

misconduct with clients ..." As the Board found, Mr. Sleibi used sex as a means of self-

medication to temporarily, and unsuccessfully, address his on-going depression and anxiety.

(Amended Findings ¶ 39, 45; See Respondent Ex. 2).

(iii) In the event of mental disability, a sustained period of successful treatment;

As discussed in detail above, Mr. Sleibi has undergone regular (at times weekly, bi-

weekly and now monthly) therapy sessions for his diagnosis with Candace B. Risen, LISW, for _

over the past three and a half (3.5) plus years - without any re-occurrence of the sexual behavior

outside of his marriage that Mr. Sleibi engaged in when committing his misconduct. (Amended

Findings ¶ 39, 45; See Respondent Ex. 2).
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v B

In addition, for three and a half (3.5) years, Mr. Sleibi has regularly attended SLAA

meetings and worked closely with a sponsor. (Amended FindingsT 45; See Respondent Ex. 2, 8

and 10).

Since March, 2011, Mr. Sleibi has been actively participating in OLAP, complied with

the terms of his first three (3) year contract and has voluntarily renewed his OLAP contract for

another three years. Mr. Caimi of OLAP states that Mr. Sleibi has fully complied with his

requirements with OLAP and that he is encouraged by Mr. Sleibi's "attitude and efforts."

(Amended Finding ¶ 45; See Respondent Ex. 8).

(iv) A prognosis from a qualified health care professional that the attorney will
be able to return to competent, ethical professional practice under specified
conditions.

Ms. Risen concludes, that Mr., Sleibi has worked hard "to understand the nature of his

problem and relapse prevention skills that help him manage the feelings and impulses that led to

his pursuit of sexual contacts with females outside his marriage, including clients." "I do believe

that he can engage in the ethical practice of law as long as he continues to participate in the

treatment program ..." (Amended Findings ¶ 45; See Respondent Ex. 2).

Corroborating Ms. Risen's conclusions, Mr. Caimi of OLAP states, that he has "no

reservations as to his fitness to practice law," (See Respondent Ex. 8).

C. Stipulate-d Aggravation

Though no aggravating factors were formally proposed by Relator and therefore,

included in the parties' stipulations as proposed by Relator, Mr. Sleibi stipulated at the hearing

his realization of the selfishness of his actions, that the pattern of misconduct involved multiple

offenses, and the vulnerability of his clients who needed legal services.
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D. The Board has appropriately recommended a Sanction of a Two (2) Year
Suspension with One (1) Year sta,yed.conditionally.

"In detertnining the appropriate length of the suspension and any attendant conditions, we

must recognize that the primary purpose of disciplinary sanctions is not to punish the offender,

but to protect the public." Disciplinary Counsel v. O'Neill, 103 Ohio St.3d 204 (2004) (emphasis

added).

When imposing sanctions for attorney misconduct, all relevant factors should be

considered, including the duties violated, the mental state of the attorney, and sanctions imposed

in similar cases. Stark Cty. Bar Assn. v. Buttacavoli, 96 Ohio St.3d 424 (2002). In making a final

determination, evidence of the aggravating and mitigating factors should be weighed.

Disciplinary Counsel v. Broeren, 115 Ohio St.3d 473 (2007). "Because each disciplinary case is

unique, we are not limited to the factors specified in the rule but may take into account "all

relevant factors" in determining what sanction to impose." Disciplinary Counsel v. Taylor, 120

Ohio St. 3d 366 (2008).

In the recent following cases, the sanction of public reprimand was issued for a violation

of Rule 1.8(j) where there was no pattern of misconduct, but similar mitigating factors existed in

those cases comparable to those in the instant matter except none of those cases presented the

qualifying mitigation factor of a mental disability, which is present herein. Mr. Sleibi concedes

his pattern of misconduct and, based upon this fact, counsel does not recommend that the

imposed sanction be a public reprimand. Nonetheless, through comparison of the existence of

other similar mitigating factors, the following cases are instructive as to the determination of an

appropriate sanction that comports with this Honorable Court's well-reasoned precedents.

Cincinnati Bar Association v. Wieczorek, 135 Ohio St.3d 434 (2013). Through a consent

to discipline accepted by the Panel and Board, the attorney admitted to misconduct for engaging
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in consensual sexual activity with a client while representing her on a charge of driving while

intoxicated. The mitigating factors present, as in the instant matter, were lack of a disciplinary

record and a cooperative attitude toward the disciplinary proceedings while further noting that

the personal relationship with the client did not adversely affect the legal representation.

Unlike with mr. Sleibi, there was no record that the attorney suffered from a mental

disability qualifying as a mitigating factor.

Allen County Bar Assoc. v. Bartels, 124 Ohio St. 3d 527 (2010). In Bartels, the attorney

originally denied in her answer engaging in a sexual relationship with a client which conimenced

during her representation of her client in post-divorce matter involving custodv and visitation,

but later admitted the misconduct through a consent to discipline. After meeting with the client

and his wife, a settlement was reached and a judgment was entered. The sexual relationship

commenced the day the entry was signed and continued for another, approximate four month

period. In issuing its opinion, the Ohio Supreme Court found that the attorney's misconduct was

not a part of larger pattern, there was a lack of prior disciplinary record in an otherwise

unblemished career, that the personal relationship had no negative impact upon the

representation, the absence of a selfish motive, cooperation with the disciplinary proceedings,

and positive character evidence.

Unlike; here, there was no evidence or suggestion in Bartels that the attorney suffered

from a mental disability qualifying as a mitigating factor.

Disciplinary Counsel v. Engler, 110 Ohio St.3d 138 (2006). Through a consent to

discipline, the attorney admitted to two (2) improper sexual encounters with a client during a

dissolution matter. The respondent had no prior disciplinary record, made good faith efforts

towards restitution, was cooperative with the disciplinary proceedings, had a good reputation in
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the legal community, and the relationship was consensual and had no negative impact upon the

representation.

There was no qualifying mitigation or suggestion of a mental disability.

Cincinnati Bar Association v. Schmalz, 123 Ohio St.3d 130 (2009). Through a consent to

discipline, the parties agreed that public reprimand was the appropriate sanction where the

attorney engaged in a sexual relationship during her representation of a clietit in a criminal

matter despite twice lying to the investigator about the nature of the relationship. The opinion

proves no finding of any existing mitigating factors at all, unlike the instant case before you

where numbers of mitigating factors are apparent; a public reprimand was imposed, noting that

the attorney had effectively performed her function as an attorney in the representation.

1. The appropriate recommendation of a partially stayed suspension.

As counsel recommended be imposed as against Mr. Sleibi at the hearing, a sanction of a

totally stayed suspension has been imposed against attorneys who conunenced in a sexual

relationship with a client during their representation of the client. In support of the Board's

recommended sanction of a partially stayed suspension, Mr. Sleibi joins the Board in their

reliance upon and discussion of DisciplinaYy Counsel v. Booher, 75 Ohio St.3d 509 (1996);

Cleveland Bar Assn. v. Feneli, 86 Ohio St.3d 102 (1999) and Akron Bar Assn. v. Williams,104

Ohio St.3d 317 (2004) (further noting for this Honorable Court that the undersigned were

respondent's counsel in both Feneli and Williams and are intimately familiar with any

distinguishable and similar facts in those cases to the instant matter).

In the following cases below, a fully stayed suspension was issued. The Board found

these cases to be distinguishable from the facts in the present matter, finding Mr. Sleibi's

conduct to be more egregious than the attorneys in those cases. While Mr. Sleibi accepts the
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Board's recommended sanction, he still respectfully suggests that though his conduct has been

found to be more egregious, a review of these cases remains revealing towards issuing a lesser

sanction - especially where in two of the below cases, as here, mitigation evidence of a mental

disability is present.

Disciplinary Counsel v. Siewert, 130 Ohio St.3d 402 (2011). Mr. Siewert had

commenced in a sexual relationship with a client who had a chemical abuse issue wllo he

represented in three separate, but related legal matters arising out of the same situation. Through

an accepted consent to discipline, the attorney was suspended for six (6) months witli entire

suspension stayed on the condition he commit no further misconduct. As with Mr. Sleibi's

diagnosed mental disability, qualified mitigation evidence of a mental disability (depression) was

found to-have contributed towards Mr. Siewert's misconduct and it was further found that Mr.

Siewert was participating in Alcoholics Anonymous for his issues with alcohol abuse.

However, unlike with Mr. Sleibi, Mr. Siewert was found to have violated Rule 1.7

[prohibiting representation if a lawyer's personal interests will materially limit his ability to carry

out appropriate action for the client] and Rul.e 8.4(d) [prohibiting a lawyer from engaging in

conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice] in addition to violations of Rule 1.8(j) and

8.4(h) which are present herein. In addition, Mr. Siewert had a prior disciplinary record, having

been suspended from the practice of law for 24 months, with 18 months stayed on conditions, for

neglecting a legal matter entrusted to him, failing to seek his client's lawful objectives and

failing to carry out a contract of employment, causing prejudice or damage to a client, failing to

assist in an investigation of professional misconduct. Unlike Siewert, Mr. Sleibi has no prior

disciplinary record, let alone one evidencing the above of the attorney-client relationship present

in Siewert.
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Disciplinary Counsel v. Hines, 133 Ohio St.3d 166 (2012). The Ohio Supreme Court in

Hines modified the Board's recommendation of an actual suspension to a six (6) month stayed

suspension. Mr. Hines represented a client in a domestic relations matter with whom he

commenced a sexual relationship. The Ohio Supreme Court found that Hines "used his position

of power to initiate and pursue an intimate relationship with a vulnerable client who was afraid to

resist" and left "the client without legal assistance at a critical juncture in her case,.." Id at ¶ 14.

In distinguishing from cases in which more severe sanctions were issued, the court noted

that, "The appropriate penalty in cases like these is often a stayed suspension, which reflects the

hope that the misconduct is limited to oiie occurrence and the reality that its recurrence would

necessitate serious consequences." Id. at ¶ 16 citing Toledo Bar Association v. Burkholder, 109

Ohio St.3d 443 (2006) [Where an attorney with no prior disciplinary record, a good reputation in

the legal community and who was cooperative with the disciplinary process was issued a six (6)

month stayed suspension for acting with a selfish motive in making "relentless" sexual advances

upon a vulnerable client that he represented in a domestic relations matter,] See also Disciplinary

Counsel v. Quatum, 108 Ohio St.3d 389 (2006) [A one year stayed suspension with two years of

probation was iinposed upon an attorney with a history of alcohol abuse who had inappropriately

touched a client's breasts, made an inappropriate comment to her and then submitted false

statements and engaged in deceptive practices during the disciplinary process.]

As aggravating factors, Mr. Hines was found to have acted with a selfish motive,

attempted to minimize or excuse his misconduct rather than acknowledge it to be wrong, and the

client was a vulnerable person whose legal interests were harmed as a result of the misconduct.

In terms of mitigation evidence, Mr. Hines' conduct involved only one client, he had no prior

disciplinary record, had a positive reputation in the legal community, and cooperated with the,
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disciplinary proceeding which led the court to believe that Mr. Hines would conduct himself

appropriately in the future.

Unlike with Mr. Sleibi and as was in Siewert, there was no qualified mitigation evidence

or suggestion of a mental disability.

In Disciplinqry Counsel v. Moore, 101 Ohio St.3d 261 (2004), the respondent attorney

was suspended for one' year, with the entire suspension stayed where the attorney made

inappropriate and unsolicited sexual advances upon one client and also engaged in consensual

sexual relations with another client. In addition to the mitigation evidence of his show of

remorse, a good reputation in the legal community, his assurances of no further misconduct, Mr.

Moore provided a preliminary report from his treating psychologist (who he consulted upon the

referral of the hearing panel) about his forthright participation in and commitment to his

treatment program, as well as the psychologist's optimistic regarding his condition.

Here, Mr. Sleibi has already undergone over three and a half (3.5) years of successful

treatment and continues to successfully engage in treatment for the diagnosed mental disability

which contributed to the misconduct to which he has admitted and for which he has taken

responsibility.

2. Relator's recommended sanction of an indefinite suspension is inappropriate in
this case,

The Relator's sought and recommended sanction of an indefinite suspension is not

justified here simply on the basis that the Court imposes such a sanction on attorneys committing

far more extensive misconduct or in cases where mitigation similar to that existing in the present

record was totally absent. In the cases imposing a harsher sanction for a violation of Rule 1.8{j),

there exists not only evidence of a larger pattern of misconduct (which Mr. Sleibi has stipulated),

but, further and more importantly, a link to other disciplinary violations or an actual adverse
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impact on the quality of the legal representation. Cincinnati Bar Association v. Schmalz, 123

Ohio St.3d 130 citing Disciplinai-y Counsel v. Sturgeon, 111 Ohio St.3d 285 (2006) [An attorney

was permanently disbarred for engaging in sexual acts with one of his clients, making

inappropriate sexual comments, touching another client in a sexual manner, soliciting sex from

the client for a reduced legal fee and making inappropriate sexual comments and exposing

himself to a third client] and Disciplinary Counsel v. Kreiger, 108 Ohio St.3d 319 (2006) [a

lawyer was suspended for two years with one year stayed for engaging in a sexual relationship

with a client and providing that client financial assistance]. See also Cleveland Metropolitan Bar

Association v. Loclrsshin, 125 Ohio St.3d 529 (2010) [an indefinite suspension was imposed upon

an attorney who made unwelcome and inappropriate sexual comments to multiple clients

including a juvenile, a potential witness, and a sheriff's department employee and touched

several victims in a provocative manner]

However, these case are very distinguishable from the facts and mitigation evidence

present here. In Lockshin, the attorney made "misstatements" to investigators, submitted false

statements at his deposition, minimized his misconduct by faiiing to demonstrate any ownership

for his actions and avoiding responsibility for his actions, and failed to follow the treatment

recommendations for his "significant mental-health" concerns and OLAP contract requirements

in the three years between the filing of the grievance against him and his disciplinary hearing,

exacerbating his risk to reoffend. The sanction in Lockshin of an indefinite suspension was

warranted to protect the public from further misconduct. Id at T 51. This sanction was obviously

called for as Mr. Locksin, based on his cavalier behavior, unlike Mr. Sleibi, was likely to pose a

risk to the public going forward.
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Here, as discussed at length above, Mr. Sleibi has taken full responsibility for his actions,

shows remorse and has undergone over three and a half years of successful treatment for his

mental disabilities and has fully complied with the requirements of his OLAP contract without

any reoccurring misconduct, all of which is compelling, evidence that he is unlikely to re-engage

in this misconduct in the future and thereby, pose a risk to the public.

Similarly, the facts, circumstances and relevant aggravating and mitigating factors in

Disciplinary Counsel v. Sturgeon, 111 Ohio. St.3d 285, are different and unique from those

present in the instant case. Relator attempts to heavily rely upon Sturgeon in advancing its

overly, harsh and strictly punitive-in-nature recommended sanction of indefinite suspension for

Mr. Sleibi's misconduct.

The similarities between Sturgeon and this matter to be utilized in arguing for a punitive

and harsher sanction stop at the pattern of misconduct with multiple clients. Mr. Sturgeon

engaged in other multiple violations of misconduct. He did not simply make unwanted sexual

advances and engage in sex with clients, he did so in exchange for reducing his fee or charging

no fee at all. Id. T¶ 3-15. Here, there is no evidence that Mr. Sleibi ever offered or engaged in

any such qa.rid pro quo reduction or forgiveness of his fees. [Like with Mr. Sturgeon, Relator,

here, is arguing that at least one of the encounters with LF was not consensual, but as explained

above, Mr. Sleibi maintains, and the evidence confirms, that all of his misconduct, while wrong,

was at all times consensual.]

Mr. Sturgeon lied repeatedly during the disciplinary process, lied under oath, engaged in

a pattern of deception designed to disrupt the disciplinary process and blamed his clients rather

than himsel£ Mr. Sturgeon's dishonesty and willingness to blame his clients demonstrated "that

he is no longer fit to practice a profession grounded on candor, integrity, loyalty and fairness."
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Id. T 27. Mr. Sleibi, in absolute contrast, has accepted full responsibility for his misconduct and

has shown and continues to exhibit remorse for his misconduct and any emotional harm which

he caused to his clients.

Further, Mr. Sleibi has been extremely candid and cooperative throughout the

disciplinary process and with the criminal investigation conducted by law enforcement even

disclosing his misconduct relating to HW and PA. Relator's method of reasoning seems to

ignore the value of candor, honesty, voluntary full disclosure of all facts, ownership by the

attorney of his misconduct and engaging in extensive reparative action. This not only flies in the

face of the spirit we encourage lawyers to exhibit in their proceedings but total ignores the

precedents set forth by this Honorable Court.

Also, while the Sturgeon case makes mention that Mr. Sturgeon was diagnosed with

suffering from "a generalized anxiety disability with schizoid and avoidant personality features",

there is no indication that Mr. Sturgeon's mental disability rose to the level of a mitigating factor

as the "board found no evidence that this problem caused the episodes of sexual misconduct ..."

Id. T 21 (emphasis added). This is an incorrect application of the standard of relation between

the misconduct and any mitigation evidence of mental disability as it exists under present law

which has been changed by this Honorable Court since Sturgeon was considered. As explained

above, pursuant to Appendix II, §10(B)(2)(g)(i)-(iv) of the Ohio Rules for Government of the

Bar which was amended to provide the four (4) prong standard for evidence of substance abuse

or mental. disability as qualified mitigation evidence on April 1, 2008 and after Sturgeon was

announced in 2006, Appendix II, § 10(B)(2)(g)(ii) only requires that the, "... chemical

dependency or mental disability contributed to cause the misconduct." Ohio Rev Code Ann Gov

Bar R Appendix 11, § 10(B)(2)(g)(ii) (Casemaker 2014) (emphasis added). Contribution does not
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equal causation. See Disciplinary Counsel v. Pfundstein, 128 Ohio St.3d 61, 65-66 at Tj 18-22

(Ohio 2010).

In deciding to disbar Mr. Sturgeon, the Ohio Supreme Court found that "the many

aggravating factors in the case outweighed if not overwhelmed the mitigating factors in favor of

a more severe sanction. With all due respect to the bar association, Mr. Sleibi is confident that,

as the Board has found, that this Honorable Court will agree that the mitigating factors present,

here, in determining the sanction to be imposed upon Mr. Sleibi outweigh the aggravating factors

to be considered. Additionally, the successful reparative actions taken by Mr. Sleibi, over the

past number of years, certainly should be reviewed favorably relative to the issue of sanctions.

Relator also misguidedly relies on Columbus Bar Association v. Linnen, 111 Ohio St.3d

507 (2006). Other than the fact that the misconduct included sexual acts, the comparison stops

there. Mr. Linnen was arrested and subsequently pled to 52 misdemeanor offenses for exposing

himself to unsuspecting women. Mr. Sleibi's misconduct stems from engaging in consensual

sexual activity with clients. Mr. Linnen broke the law. Mr. Sleibi did not.

There are also distinguishing factors between Mr. Linnen's claim of mental disability as

mitigation evidence and that of Mr. Sleibi. Mr. Linnen was never medically diagnosed, but

rather only determined by a psychologist to suffer from "sexual addiction". Linnen, 111 Ohio

St.3d p. 4 at712, 13. Mr. Sleibi has been medically diagnosed with depression and anxiety. In

addition, Mr. Linnen's psychologist and the tests he utilized were called into question and found

not to be credible, as Mr. Linnen may have manipulated the results of the test employed to

appear sick. Id., p. 5 at TT14-16. Here, the Panel found Ms. Risen to be "eminently qualified"

with an "extensive background and experience in the field of Marital and Sexual Health."

(Amended Findings ¶ 38). Unlike Mr. Linnen, whose mental disability the court disavowed as
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mitigation evidence out of concern that he lacked sincerity in claiming mental disability by being

prone to fake illness and failing to heed his psychologist's recommendation to see a psychiatrist

instead choosing not to be placed on medication, Id., p. 5 at ¶ 15, p. 7, ¶ 22, strictly following the

advice of all of his treating professionals is exactly what Mr. Sleibi did - at the beginning of his

treatment with Ms. Risen in March, 2011, he agreed to see Dr. Pallas, wllo medically diagnosed

him with depression and anxiety, and placed him on medication which regimen Mr. Sleibi has

faithfully followed on for over three and a half (3.5) years. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 37-39; See

Respondent's Exhibit No. 1 and 2).

Moreover, Ms. Risen's testimony was based upon three and a half 3.5 years of sustained

treatment and extensive therapy sessions including, but not limited to, in depth conversations

with Mr. Sleibi in addition to Mr. Sleibi's faithful adherence to both his OLAP and SLAA

programs. (Amended Findings ¶¶ 39, 45; See Respondent's Ex. 1-7.) To the contrary, Mr.

Linnen's psychologist could only point to his participation in SLAA. Id., pp. 5-6, at ¶ 16.

All the above being said, this Honorable Court made it abbundantly clear in Linnen that

its decision, "does not come so much from any deficiencies in Dr. Mass' conclusions as it does

from an underlying skepticism of respondent's sincerity in claiming mental disability." Id., p. 7

at ^ 22. In issuing the sanction of an indefinite suspension, the Panel, Board and this Honorable

Court found that Mr. Linnen, totally unlike Mr. Sleibi, did not genuinely show remorse or

acknowledge the wrongful nature of his misconduct and the harm caused to his victims of his

crimes, but rather showed concern for the negative impact on his own life. Linnen, 111 Ohio

St.3d at p. 3 at ¶ 9, p.4 at ¶ 10, p. 8 at ¶ 23. Here, and unlike with Mr. Linnen, the Panel, who

actually heard the evidence in determining the credibility of the witnesses including Ms. Risen

and Mr. Sleibi, and subsequently the Board, found that Mr. Sleibi was genuinely remorseful for
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his behavior and misconduct as well as the vulnerability of his clients who were effected by his

misconduct. (Amended Findings ¶ 44). "Unless the record weighs heavily against a hearing

panel's findings, we defer to the panel's credibility determinations, inasmuch as the panel

members saw and heard the witnesses firsthand." Pappas, Slip Opinion 2014-Ohio-3676 (2014)

citing Wise, 108 Ohio St.3d 164 at ¶ 24 (2006).

Finally, Linnen was decided in 2006, approximately eight (8) years ago. As Dr. Ley,

Relator's own expert acknowledged, there is an on-going debate amongst mental health

professionals as to whether sex addiction is a diagnosable condition and that it very well could be

one in th-e future. (Amended Finding ¶ 45, footnote 5). Our society's understanding, and the

science surrounding sex addiction, is continuously evolving. However, no court or mental health

professional in the United States questions the validity of depression and anxiety both of which

conditions are present, herein, as appropriate mental diagnoses.

Since undergoirig successful treatment for his diagnosed mental disabilities of depression

and anxiety for the past three and a half (3.5) years, 1v1r. Sleibi now has the tools to understand

his unprofessional, wrongful, and selfish behavior and the hannful consequences of his gross,

repulsive and disgusting actions, the vulnerability of his clients who were in need of legal

services during a difficult time in their lives, and further accepts complete responsibility and

remorse for what he has done. In the over tluee and a half (3.5) years of his continued treatment

for his mental disability, attending SLAA and complying with his initial three (3) year OLAP

contract which has been renewed, Mr. Sleibi has not engaged in any further misconduct and as

has been opined both by Ms. Risen and Mr. Caimi, is fit to continue to engage in the competent,

ethical professional practice of law without risk of further injury to the public.
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IV. CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing facts and legal precedent, Respondent Jalal T. Sleibi respectively

requests that this Honorable Court duly.consider this brief together with the Agreed Stipulations

and Conclusions of Law, Amended Findings of Fact, and Recommendation of the Panel and

Board, as well as any and all evidence and testimony adduced at the Hearing of this matter, and

after weighing all of the evidence adduced therein, determine that Mr. Sleibi committed the

violations of the Ohio Rules of Professional Conduct, to which he has stipulated, and thereupon

enter an order adopting the recommendation of the Board that he be suspended from the practice

of law for two (2) years with one (1) year conditionally stayed.

Respectfully submitted,
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[Until this opinion appears in the Ohio Official Reports advance sheets, it may be cited as
Disciplinary Counsel v. Pappas, Slip Opinion No. 2014-Ohio-3676.1

NOTICE

This slip opinion is subject to formal revision before it is published in

an advance sheet of the Ohio Official Reports. Readers are requested

to promptly notify the Reporter of Decisions, Supreme Court of Ohio,

65 South Front Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215, of any typographical or

other formal errors in the opinion, in order that corrections may be

made before the opinion is published.

SLIP OPINI®N No. 2014-OHIO-3676

DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL V. PAPPAS.

[Until this opinion appears in the Ohio Official Reports advance sheets,

it may be cited as Disciplinary Counsel v. Pappas,

Slip Opinion No. 2014-Ohio-3676.]

Attorneys Misconduct-Felony conviction for making false statement to federal

authorities-Affidavit known to be false filed in court of law-False

statement to disciplinary authority-Violation of multiple Rules of

Professional Conduct-Two year suspension with no credit for time

served under interim felony suspension.

(No. 2013-1625-Submitted December 11, 2013-Decided September 4, 2014.)

ON CERTIFIED REPORT by the Board of Commissioners on Grievances and

Discipline of the Supreme Court, No. 2012-089.

Per Curiam.

{¶ 1} Respondent, George Zane Pappas of Urbana, Ohio, Attorney

Registration No. 0033674, was admitted to the practice of law in Ohio in 1986. In

December 2007,, we suspended Pappas's license for failing to register but



SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

reinstated him the following day. In re Attorney Registration Suspension of
Pappas, 116 Ohio St.3d 1420, 2007-Ohio-6463, 877 N.E.2d 305; In re Pappas,

116 Ohio St.3d 1498, 2008-Ohio-290, 880 N.E.2d 97. In November 2011, we

suspended him again for failing to register. In re Attorney Registration

Suspension of Pappas, 130 Ohio St.3d 1420, 2011-Ohio-5627, 956 N.E.2d 310.

We sanctioned him in December 2011 for failure to comply with the continuing-

legal-education requirements of Gov.Bar R. X. In re Pappas, 130 Ohio St.3d
1505, 2011-Ohio-6770, 959 N.E.2d 2.

{12} On August 22, 2012, we imposed an interim felony suspension on

him pursuant to Gov.Bar R. V(5)(A)(4) after receiving notice that he had been

convicted of making a false statement to federal authorities. In re Pappas, 132

Ohio St.3d 1497, 2012-Ohio-3775, 973 N.E.2d 266. The 2011 and 2012

suspensions remain in effect.

{¶ 3} In December 2012, relator, disciplinary counsel, charged Pappas

with violations of the Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional

Responsibility based on his crirninal conviction and for allegedly making the

same false statement to a court and to relator.1 Relator and Pappas entered into a

comprehensive list of stipulations of fact and misconduct, but they could not

agree on the appropriate sanction. After a hearing, a three-member panel of the

Board of Commissioners on Grievances and Discipline determined that the

parties' stipulations were supported by clear and convincing evidence and

recommended that Pappas serve a two-year suspension from the practice of law

with credit for time served under his interim felony suspension. The board

adopted the panel's report in its entirety, and no party has filed objections to the

board's reconunendation.

' Relator charged Pappas with misconduct under the applicable Disciplinary Rules for acts
occurring before February 1, 2007, the effective date of the Rules of Professional Conduct, which
superseded the Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility.
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{¶ 4} Upon our review of the record, we accept the board's fmdings of

fact and misconduct and agree that a two-year suspension is the appropriate

sanction in this case. However, we do not credit Pappas with the time he has

served under this interim felony suspension.

Misconduct

{l 5} Between 1995 and 2010, Pappas was a sole practitioner in Urbana,

focusing primarily on criminal-defense work. In February 2004, Pappas's law-

school classmate and long-time best friend, Aristotle Matsa, was in the midst of a

divorce. According to Pappas, Matsa told him that his ex-wife was attempting to

"take everything and destroy him." Matsa therefore requested that Pappas falsely

claim ownership of Matsa's Columbus law firm in order to prevent Matsa's ex-

wife from obtaining finn records. Pappas agreed and executed an affidavit, which

was filed in Matsa's divorce case in an effort to quash a subpoena. In the

affidavit, Pappas averred:

2. I am the sole shareholder and principal in charge of the

Law Offices of Aristotle R. Matsa, A Legal Professional

Association, which [is] referred to by some as the Law Offices of

Aristotle R. Matsa, and have been such from the date of the

creation of this entity through the present.

3. It has recently come to my attention that someone has

attempted to subpoena banking records relating to the entity

referred to in item 2 above. I believe that any such attempt is in

clear violation of my rights, and the attorney client privilege, as

well as other statutory and common law rights.

4. The attempt to delve into my/my entity's banking

records is intended to intimidate and harass me and my clients.

Any release of such records would cause my clients, me, and my
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entity irreparable harm. It would obviously be a violation of

privacy as well given that I have no interest in the above captioned

case.

5. As Mr. Golden and his firm well know, I do represent

the Plaintiff [Matsa] in another civil case and it is my belief that
this action by Mr. Golden is intended to damage, harass, and

intimidate me and my practice; and to attempt to gain privileged

information that his firm might use in an unrelated lawsuit wherein

I represent the Plaintiffand others.

Despite these averments, Pappas had in fact never had any ownership interest in

Matsa's law finn.

{¶ 6) Two months later, in April 2004, relator sent Pappas a letter of

inquiry requesting information regarding his alleged acquisition of Matsa's law

practice. Pappas responded in writing and falsely stated that he had been the sole

and/or primary shareholder of Matsa's law firm since 1987. Pappas further stated

that in "an abundance of caution," he was changing the name to the "Law Offices

of George Z. Pappas, L.P.A." Based upon Pappas's false representations, relator
terminated its investigation.

{if 71 Apparently unbeknownst to Pappas, Matsa had been carrying out a

tax-fraud scheme for nearly three decades. According to the parties' stipulations,

Matsa had set up a complex web of shell C-corporations, trusts, limited-liability

companies, churches, and other nominee entities purportedly owned or associated

with others. Matsa's criminal schetne led to a federal investigation by the Internal

Revenue Service ("IRS") and the United States Justice Department for alleged tax

fraud, money laundering, and conspiracy to obstruct justice.

{¶ 8) As part of that investigation, IRS agents interviewed Pappas in

August 2006. During that interview, Pappas again falsely stated that he was the
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owner of Matsa's law firm. The IRS then served Pappas with two subpoenas-

one for his personal appearance before the federal grand jury in September 2006

and the other as the custodian of records for a long list of entities, including

Matsa's law firm. On September 19, 2006, Pappas appeared before the grand jury

and falsely stated, under oath, that he was the owner of Matsa's Columbus law

firm. Immediately following that testimony, Pappas sent a letter to the

Department of Justice stating, again, that he was the owner of Matsa's law

practice, that he had always been the sole shareholder of the firm, and that many

of the entities listed on the subpoena were not associated with Matsa but were

clients of Pappas's law practice.

{¶ 91 Within months after sending the September 2006 letter, Pappas

agreed to take responsibility for his lies and began cooperating with federal

authorities. The federal prosecutor later stated that Pappas's cooperation proved

significant in obtaining a search warrant of Matsa's law office in 2007 and in the

governrnent's investigation of Matsa. On December 10, 2009, Pappas signed a

confidential plea agreement with the federal goven2tnent, and in February 2010,

he waived his right to indictment and pled guilty to a charge of making a false

statement under 18 U.S.C. 1001, based on the. false statements he had made in the

September 2006 letter to the Department of Justice. Pappas reported his

misconduct to relator and closed his Urbana law office. At some point thereafter,

he began working as a part-time line cook at a restaurant chain, where he

continued to work at the time of his disciplinary hearing.

{¶ 101 Matsa's criminal trial did not occur until Apri12012. Pappas met

with government agents and investigators numerous times before trial, and he

testified against his fonmer friend in pretrial hearings and at trial. Pappas's

cooperation was described as instrumental in assisting the prosecution, and Matsa

was ultimately convicted of multiple felonies and sentenced to 85 months in

prison.

5
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{¶ 11) In June 2012, a federal judge convicted Pappas of making a false

statement based on his 2010 guilty plea and sentenced him to probation for one

year, including four months of home confinement, along with a $100 fme and a

$100 assessment. The parties here stipulated, and the board found, that Pappas

did not financially benefit from his false representations regarding his ownership

of Matsa's law firm, and no evidence established that Pappas was even aware of

Matsa's illegal activity. Indeed, in its sentencing memorandum in Pappas's

federal case, the government stated the following:

Matsa's aim was to obstruct the fact that he (Matsa)

controlled all the entities and was the mastermind behind the

fraudulent tax filings, not only of the corporate law firm, but of the

other corporate and trust entities which he controlled. Pappas' aim

was to conceal his prior lie to the divorce court and to the Ohio

Supreme Court and to again help his best friend out of a jam he

perceived to have been created by Matsa's ex-wife. Pappas did not

financially benefit from his conduct. In fact, there is no evidence

that Pappas knew of Matsa's illegal conduct involving the clients,

the corporations or the trusts.

The district court judge agreed, stating at Pappas's sentencing hearing that Pappas

was essentially "taken advantage of by a. friend who was involved in a much more

aggravated and criminal scheme than what [Pappas] involved himself with."

{¶ 12} Based on these facts, we agree with the board's findings of

misconduct in this case. In count one, Pappas's false statements to federal

authorities, which led to his criminal conviction, violated DR 1-102(A)(4)

(prohibiting a lawyer from engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud,

deceit, or misrepresentation), 1-102(A)(5) (prohibiting a lawyer from engaging in
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conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice), and 1-102(A)(6)

(prohibiting a lawyer from engaging in. conduct that adversely reflects on the

lawyer's fitness to practice law). In count two, Pappas's false statements in

response to relator's 2004 letter of inquiry violated DR 1-102(A)(4), 1-102(A)(5),

and 1-102(A)(6). And in count three, Pappas's execution of the false affidavit in

Matsa's 2004 divorce proceeding violated DR 1-102(A)(4), 1-102(A)(5), 1-

102(A)(6), 7-102(A)(4) (prohibiting a lawyer from knowingly using perjured

testimony or false evidence in his or her representation of a client), and 7-

102(A)(5) (prohibiting a lawyer from knowingly making a false statement of fact

in his or her representation of a client).

Sanction

{¶ 13} When imposing sanctions for attorney misconduct, we consider

several relevant factors, including the ethical duties that the lawyer violated and

the sanctions imposed in similar cases. Stark Cty. Bar Assn. v. Buttacavoli, 96

Ohio St.3d 424, 2002-Ohio-4743, 775 N.E.2d 818, ¶ 16. In making a final

determination, we also weigh evidence of the aggravating and mitigating factors

listed in BCGD Proc.Reg. 10(B). Disciplinary Counsel v. Broeren, 115 Ohio

St.3d 473, 2007-Ohio-5251, 875 N.E.2d 935, ¶ 21. However, because each

disciplinary case is- unique, we are not limited to the factors specified in BCGD

Proc.Reg. 10(B) and may take into account all relevant factors in determini.ng

which sanction to impose.

Aggravating and mitigatingfactors

{Q 14} In aggravation, the board found that Pappas acted with a dishonest

or selfish motive-not for financial gain, but to protect his friend-and that he

engaged in a pattem of misconduct. See BCGD Proc.Reg. 10(B)(1)(b) and(c).

We concur, and also note that Pappas has prior discipline for failing to register as

an attorney: See BCGD Proc.Reg. 10(B)(1)(a).

7
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{T 15} In mitigation, the board detennined that Pappas (1) eventually

made a good-faith effort to rectify the consequences of his misconduct, (2)

cooperated in the disciplinary investigation, after making the initial

misrepresentation in 2004, (3) has a "reputation for good character" and a history

as a "sensitive criminal attorney serving a constituency who benefits from his

services," and (4) has been subject to other penalties, including successful

completion of a term of home confinement and probation and payment of a fine

and assessment. See BCGD Proc.Reg. 10(B)(2)(c), (d), (e), and (f). The board

also determined that Pappas had displayed "immense remorse," acknowledged the

wrongful nature of his misconduct, and had not benefited financially in any way

from his misconduct.

{¶ 16} We agree that these mitigating factors are present here, and we

defer to the panel's credibility determinations regarding Pappas's level of remorse

and his reputation. See Cuyahoga Cty. Bar Assn. v. Wise, 108 Ohio St.3d 164,

2006-Ohio-550, 842 N.E.2d 35, T 24 ("Unless the record weighs heavily against a

hearing panel's findings, we defer to the panel's credibility determinations,

inasmuch as the panel members saw and heard the witnesses firsthand").

Applicable precedent

{¶ 17} The parties submitted a number of cases to the board iiivolving

attorneys whose misconduct resulted in felony convictions, with sanctions ranging

from a two-year suspension, with credit for time served under the interim felony

suspension, to an indefmite suspension without_credit for time served. See, e.g.,
Disciplinary Counsel v. Blaszak, 104 Ohio St.3d 330, 2004-Ohio-6593, 819

N.E.2d 689 (two-year suspension, with credit for time served, for an attorney

convicted of offering to sell testimony in exchange for $500,000); Disciplinary
Counsel v. Margolis, 114 Ohio St.3d 165, 2007-Ohio-3607, 870 N.E.2d 1158

(two-year suspension, without credit for time served, for an attorney convicted of

federal antitrust violations that affected between $37.5 million and $100 million
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in bid rigging); Disciplinary Counsel v. Bennett, 124 Ohio St.3d 314, 2010-Ohio-

313, 921 N.E.2d 1064 (indefinite suspension, with credit for time served, for an

attomey convicted of illegally structuring financial transactions in an amount of

$124,300 to evade federal currency-transaction reporting requirements);

Disciplinary Counsel v. Smith, 128 Ohio St.3d 390, 201.1-Ohio-957, 944 N.E.2d

1166 (indefinite suspension, with credit for time served, for an attorney convicted

of making false tax returns, conspiring to defraud the IRS, and corruptly

endeavoring to obstruct and impede an IRS investigation); Disciplinary Counsel
v. Camera, 68 Ohio St.3d 478, 628 N.E.2d 1353 (1994) (indefinite suspension,

without credit for time served, for an attorney convicted of perjury for signing a

false affidavit at a sheriff's sale; the affidavit stated that the attoniey was not

acting on behalf of the client whose forfeited property was being sold due to her

conviction in a criminal matter, but the attorney was in fact acting on that client's

behalf).

{118} The board found several distinctions between Pappas's conduct

and the conduct of the attomeys in these cases. For example, the board

determined that Pappas's misconduct-"telling the same lie on three separate

occasions"-was less severe than the misconduct in Blaszak and Margolis and not
as frequent or as complex as the misconduct in Bennett and Smith. Similarly, the
board noted that unlike the attomeys in Blaszak, Bennett, and Smith, Pappas was

not motivated by any personal financial gain, and in contrast to the attorney in

Margolis, Pappas showed "immense. remorse" and took responsibility for his

actions. As to Camera, the board concluded that because this court's opinion did

not discuss aggravating and mitigating factors, the board could not determine

whether the facts in Pappas's case warranted the same sanction as that imposed in

Camera.

{¶ 19} The board found that its recommended sanction of a two-year

suspension was supported by Disciplinary Counsel v. Derryberry, 54 Ohio St,3d
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107, 561 N.E.2d 926 (1990). In that case, the attorney was convicted of peijury

after testifying that, while serving as a bankruptcy trustee, he had not received

certain creditor contributions given to a third party. But in fact, the third party

had given the trustee-attorney at least one creditor's check, apparently as part of a

$27,500 personal loan.. Id. at 108. In mitigation, the board had stressed the

attorney's character evidence, his 17 years' experience as a trustee in bankruptcy

actions, his active civic participation, and his near-completion of his criminal

sentence of three years' probation. Icl. at 108. This court accepted the board's

recommended sanction of a two-year suspension with credit for time served under

the interim felony suspension. Id. at 109.

{l 20} Based on this precedent, and its belief that the "significant number

of mitigating factors" in Pappas's case were of "overriding importance," the board

determined that "[b]eyond any term suspension there is no valid reason to believe

that the public needs to be protected from [Pappas's] practicing law."

Accordingly, it recommended that Pappas serve a two-year suspension, with

credit for time served during the interim felony suspension.

{¶ 21} We agree with the board that the relevant precedent-especially

Derryberry-supports a two-year suspension from the practice of law. Pappas's

misconduct was not as egregious as the attorneys in Smith or Bennett, who both

engaged in complex schemes to defraud the IRS for personal gain and, as a result,

received indefinite suspensions. Given the facts and significant mitigating factors

here, a lesser sanction than in Smith or Bennett is warr.anted. However, Pappas

was not only convicted of making a false statement to federal authorities, he also

made the same false statement to a court and to relator. "Such conduct strikes at

the very core of a lawyer's relationship with the court ***. Respect for our

profession is diminished with every deceitful act of a lawyer." Disciplinury
Counsel v. Fowerbaugh, 74 Ohio St.3d 187, 190, 658 N.E.2d 237 (1995).
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Accordingly, we decline to credit Pappas for the time served under his interim

felony suspension.

Conclusion

{¶ 22) For the reasons explained above, George Zane Pappas is suspended

from the practice of law in Ohio for two years, with no credit for time served

under his interim felony suspension. Costs are taxed to Pappas.

Judgment accordingly.

O'CONNOR, C.J., and PFEIFER, LANZINGER, KENNEVY, FRENCH, and

O'NEILL, JJ., concur.

O'DONNELL, J., dissents.

O'DONNELL, J., dissenting.

{l 23} Respectfully, I dissent.

{¶ 24} The egregious conduct Pappas engaged in, particularly with

respect to IRS agents, and his testimony before a grand jury and representations to

the Department of Justice adversely affect the administration of justice.

{if 25} In this case, Pappas executed an affidavit, knowing that it would be

filed in the Domestic Relations Division of the Franklin County Common Pleas

Court, falsely claiming ownership in Aristotle Matsa's law practice in an effort to

quash a subpoena. He made false representations to relator, he falsely tnld IRS

agents that he was the owner of Matsa's law firm, he appeared before a federal

grand jury and falsely testified under oath that he w-as the owner of Matsa's la^w

firm, and after that testimony, he sent a letter to the Departrnent of Justice,

representing again that he was the owner of Matsa's law practice, that he had

always been the sole shareholder of the firm, and that many of the entities listed

on the subpoena were not associated with Matsa but were clients of his law

practice. After signing a confidential plea agreement with federal authorities,
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Pappas reported his misconduct to relator. A federal district court convicted him

of making a false statement to federal authorities.

{¶ 26) In Disciplinary Counsel v. Fowerbaugh, 74 Ohio St.3d 187, 190,
658 N.E.2d 237 (1995), we stated that a

lawyer who engages in a material misrepresentation to a court

*** violates, at a minimum, the lawyer's oath of office that he or

she will not "knowingly * * * employ or countenance any * * *

deception, falsehood, or fraud." Gov.Bar R. I(8)(A). Such

conduct strikes at the very core of a lawyer's relationship with the

court ***. Respect for our profession is diminished with every

deceitful act of a lawyer.

In this case, Pappas made repeated material misrepresentations.

{¶ 27} The board determined that he acted with a dishonest or selfish

motive and that he engaged in a pattern of misconduct,

{¶ 2$1 In my view, a two-year suspension with no credit for time served

under the interim felony suspension is not an appropriate sanction.

{¶ 291 1 would disbar him from the practice of law.

Donald M. Scheetz, Senior Assistant Disciplinary Counsel, for relator.

Kegler Brown Hill & Ritter, Geoffrey Stern and Rasheeda Khan, for
respondent.
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